# **APA Resource Document**

# Resource Document on Implementation of Measurement-Based Care

Approved by the Joint Reference Committee, June 2023

"The findings, opinions, and conclusions of this report do not necessarily represent the views of the officers, trustees, or all members of the American Psychiatric Association. Views expressed are those of the authors." – APA Operations Manual

# Prepared by the Council on Quality Care Chairs

Kathryn Ridout, MD, PhD Assistant Chief, Department of Psychiatry, The Permanente Medical Group Adjunct Investigator, Kaiser Permanente Division of Research <u>Kathryn.erickson-ridout@kp.org</u>

Erik R. Vanderlip, MD, MPH Assistant Professor, Oregon Health and Sciences University Department of Psychiatry <u>vandeeri@ohsu.edu</u>

#### Workgroup Members and Affiliations (alphabetical order)

Carol L. Alter, MD Professor of Psychiatry, University of Texas, Austin, Dell Medical School Associate Chair, Clinical Integration and Operations <u>Carol.alter@austin.utexas.edu</u>

Andrew D. Carlo, MD, MPH Senior Medical Director for Health System Integration, Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute Health System Clinician, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine acarlo@mmhpi.org

Bashkim Kadriu, MD Director, Clinical Leader, Translational Medicine, Neuroscience Janssen Research & Development, Pharmaceutical Companies of Johnson & Johnson <u>bkadriu1@its.jnj.com</u>

Cecilia Livesey, MD Chief Mental Health Officer, UnitedHealth Group Clinical Assistant Professor, Perelman School of Medicine, University of Pennsylvania Cecilia\_livesey@uhg.com John Torous, MD, MBI Director of Digital Psychiatry, Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center Assistant Professor, Harvard Medical School jtorous@bidmc.harvard.edu

#### APA Staff

Andrew Lyzenga, MPP American Psychiatric Association, Deputy Director, Quality

Lori Whitaker American Psychiatric Association, Program Manager

Becky Yowell American Psychiatric Association, Director, Reimbursement Policy and Quality <u>qualityandpayment@psych.org</u>

#### Objective

To develop resources to help solo as well as small-group psychiatrist practices and health systems including psychiatric care implement measurement-based care into routine practice.

#### Format

Presented as a resource document/white paper and toolkit on the APA website.

# Table of Contents

<u>Objective</u> 2
<u>Format</u>
Executive Summary
Summary of Pro Tips for Implementation
HISTORY AND CONTEXT OF WORKGROUP7
Disclosures
Introduction
Background and Context of Measurement-Based Care7
Why Measurement-Based Care?       8         Increased Treatment Engagement, Insight, Symptom Validation, and Adherence       8         Interviewing and Visit Duration, Efficiency, and Greater Focus on Psychoeducation and Motivation       9         Measurement-Based Care Can Facilitate Improved Population Health, Patient Discharge, and Allocation of       10
Kesources
<u>Opportunities for Reimbursement</u>
Direct Billing Reimbursement
Value-Based Reimbursement, Indirect Billing12
Quality Measurement: Reimbursement and Accreditation
Impact of Quality Measurement on Reimbursement
Accreditation
Table 2. Joint Commission Standard for Behavioral Health Providers         14
Table 3. URAC Measurement-Based Health Care Designation Standards ata Glance
MBC as a Component of a Larger Behavioral Health Integration System
<u>Considerations for Measures Selected in Clinical Practice</u>
Table 4: Framework for Measure Selection         17
<u>Technology Considerations for MBC Implementation</u>
Figure 1: Data and Measure Integration Through External Devices
Challenges and Opportunities for MBC Implementation
Patient-reported challenges and opportunities for implementation of MBC19
Clinician-reported challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation
Organizational challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation

Health care system challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation	22
Other potential challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation	22
<u>The Future of Measurement-Based Care</u>	23
Innovations in MBC	23
Opportunities to coincide measures with changing clinical treatments and pathological understanding	24
Implementation Strategies for Solo and Small-Group Practices	25
Table 5. Considerations for automating or integrating MBC	25
<u>Summary and Conclusion</u>	26
Appendix 1: Examples of Validated Adult Rating Scales	27
<u>References</u>	28

# **Executive Summary**

Measurement-based care (MBC) is the process of repeatedly assessing psychiatric symptomatology through structured means to inform the process of care.<sup>1</sup> Backed by years of experience and scientific evidence, the use of standardized rating scales in psychiatric practice is associated with significant gains in the efficiency of care delivery and achievement of clinical outcomes.<sup>1-3</sup> Scales are becoming more widespread, affordable and digitized.<sup>4, 5</sup> Increasingly, private and public payers are requiring evidence of implementation of MBC across different practice settings in order to satisfy reimbursement criteria, and accreditation bodies are adding routine use of measures to their list of requirements for ongoing accreditation.<sup>6</sup>

In spite of a growing chorus calling for the adoption of routine MBC, the psychiatric field has been slow to implement MBC in routine practice. This resource document is intended to review the rationale and evidence behind MBC, highlight payment and practice incentives to entice clinicians to consider more consistent implementation of MBC, and identify common barriers and best practices to aid in MBC adoption.

Practitioners should consider MBC implementation for a variety of reasons. It has evidence in support of improved quality of care and achievement of patient-centered clinical outcomes.<sup>5, 7</sup> Additionally, there are associations with the implementation of MBC and improved patient engagement, insight, validation, and reduced stigma, and some gains in practice efficiency.<sup>1, 4, 5</sup> Opportunities are available for practitioners to add insurance billing codes to visits and in-between visits for the performance of MBC and interpretation of results by staff to many insurers. What's more, the process of MBC is becoming a consistent feature of value-based reimbursement contracts between systems, solo and small-group practitioners, and many private insurance payers.<sup>4-6</sup> Finally, for systems interested in accreditation, The Joint Commission and URAC are incorporating proof of routine use of standardized rating scales in their accreditation standards across a variety of practice settings.<sup>4, 5</sup>

Choosing which measure to implement can be a daunting task. This resource document offers up a framework to aid in the measure selection process that details considerations such as cost, accessibility, reliability, and validity of measures adopted for different clinical settings. Additionally, this resource document reviews technological considerations for solo and small-group practitioners looking to implement MBC into workflows that are digitized and could save time and effort.

Once a measure is chosen, consistent implementation can be difficult. This document breaks down the patient-, clinician-, group-, and system-level barriers often encountered and offers tips and suggestions for a variety of practices to overcome those barriers. Finally, there is a discussion about the future of MBC, with a specific eye toward changes to measures and outcomes that are evolving as our understanding of psychiatric symptomatology and assessment also evolves.

The document is navigable to specific sections through hyperlinks in the table of contents, for ease of use.

# Summary of Pro Tips for Implementation

- Patient-Level Pro Tips
  - Invest in tools that can engage the patient to complete MBC forms/questionnaires prior to their appointments and with as little friction as possible, and that allow clinicians to view and analyze the results in a timely manner.
    - Examples include partnering with companies that can be integrated with your Electronic Medical Record (EMR)(e.g., PsychPRO and others) and proactively texting questionnaires to patients queued on upcoming visits.
    - Utilize any existing integrated EMR surveys that are accessible through the patient portal.
  - Add context and information about the use of MBC indices at patient intake and/or at each administration.
  - Encourage clinicians to acknowledge the receipt of the MBC results to the patient during the clinical encounter (e.g., if the patient just completed the PHQ-9, acknowledge the results at the beginning of the visit to indicate to the patient that the clinician has reviewed them and incorporated their input into their clinical care and recommendations).
- Clinician-Level Pro Tips
  - Perform an in-service review of the use of MBC and associations with improvements in quality of care.
  - Utilize existing clinical quality groups or committees to produce recommendations about which MBC instruments should be implemented and how to utilize them in clinical practice.
  - Select measures that reflect your practice co-morbidity and demographic profile; use the Framework for Measure Selection (see Table 4) in this document to aid in your selection.
- Practice-Level Pro Tips
  - Dedicate staff to processes at check-in that "automate" some MBCs, such as the PHQ-9 or GAD-7.
  - Invest in staff training and having champions in MBC who can facilitate MBC implementation.
- System-Level Pro Tips
  - Invest in departmental or clinical budgetary line items to support the implementation of MBC —through either dedicated staff FTE, technological processes, or time.
  - Designate MBC as the "standard of care" in your health system or institution, making it an expected part of every significant patient encounter.
  - Identify system-based incentives to utilize MBC, including adding the requirement to compensation plan incentives.

# HISTORY AND CONTEXT OF WORKGROUP

The American Psychiatric Association (APA) Council on Quality Care has a primary responsibility to promote evidence-based practice and support the highest standards and consistency in the care quality provided by the psychiatric workforce. As such, the council recognizes that the use of repeated validated rating scales during the routine care of patients, known as measurement-based care (MBC), is a core component of quality. The council continues to be invested in identifying mechanisms to provide members with the tools and resources to utilize MBC. While the APA has done a great deal to educate and advocate for members around the value of MBC, there has not yet been widespread adoption of MBC into daily psychiatric practice. This appears to be particularly true for practitioners working in solo and small-group practices. There are a number of unique barriers these practices face in implementing MBC. As a result, the council has developed this document to provide information, tools, and other resources that will help make MBC the standard of care in psychiatric practice moving forward.

Psychiatric membership of the workgroup consisted of council members (Alter, Ridout, Torous, and Vanderlip); psychiatric representative from the payer background (Livesay); implementation, consulting, and public health background (Carlo); and private practice community members (Kadriu, Vanderlip), with the intention of gathering an array of perspectives across psychiatric practice and systems of care.

## Disclosures

Kathryn Ridout, MD, PhD, is employed by The Permanente Medical Group. Erik Vanderlip, MD, MPH, is a co-founder and CMO of an online telemental health company; an assistant professor at OHSU; a consulting psychiatrist at the Pacific Premier Group (private practice); and a per-diem inpatient psychiatrist with Providence Medical Group. Andrew Carlo, MD, MPH, is employed by Northwestern Medicine and Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute, and was a consultant for Otsuka Pharmaceuticals. Bashkim Kadriu, MD, is a full-time employee and shareholder of Jazz Pharmaceuticals. Cecelia Livesey, MD, is a full-time employee and shareholder of UnitedHealth Group and is on the advisory board of Compass Pathways Ltd. John Torous, MD, MBI, is a full-time employee of the Beth Israel Medical Center and Harvard Medical School as well as a scientific advisor for Precision Mental Wellness. None of the authors report any royalties or funding from the use or implementation of any concepts contained in this resource document.

# Introduction

## Background and Context of Measurement-Based Care

Surveying and compiling data from a patient's medical history, symptom report, physical examination, or diagnostic tests is the foundation of clinical diagnosis.<sup>8</sup> In psychiatry, clinical diagnosis relies heavily on patient- or clinician-elicited symptom reporting and determining whether the pattern of symptoms is consistent with the diagnostic criteria for a specific mental health disorder.<sup>9</sup> Historically, clinicians utilize their training and knowledge to assess for mental health disorders and their severity to establish an initial clinical diagnosis and the need for subsequent follow-ups, relying on their assessment alone

rather than on rating scales or standardized diagnostic interviews. However, with growing recognition of the importance of structured symptom measurement in the diagnosis and treatment of mental health disorders, more research has focused on the integration of systematic mental health symptom measurement to inform and guide clinical diagnosis and decision-making.<sup>2, 10</sup> This movement toward MBC followed initiatives to improve health care value and quality<sup>4</sup> and can be considered analogous to the repeated measurement of values such as blood pressure for hypertension or blood sugar for diabetes management, which are associated with improved outcomes in physical health care. The APA Practice Guidelines for the Psychiatric Evaluation of Adults recommends the use of quantitative measures as part of assessment in all psychiatric evaluations.<sup>11</sup>

Studies have shown that patients receiving MBC have superior mental health care outcomes compared to usual care, defined as psychiatric treatment without routine symptom measurement.<sup>1, 3, 12</sup> As an example, patients receiving MBC for mental health have up to a 75% improvement in remission rates compared to those receiving usual care.<sup>13</sup> MBC facilitates collaboration between clinicians and patients while informing medical decision-making by identifying clinically appropriate and targeted interventions for patients, including escalation and de-escalation of care. This systematic feedback established between clinicians and patients ensures progress and outcome monitoring. Moreover, MBC can be used to track and improve care quality across patient panels, practices, systems, and plans by aggregating data from repeated outcome measurements.

Many symptom rating scales have good validity and reliability, allowing for mental health symptom change detection and outcome measurement over time (Appendix 1).<sup>4, 5</sup> Important considerations when selecting scales for practice integration are reviewed later in this resource document, while Appendix 1 lists example measures applicable by condition. Despite these resources and evidence, MBC is poorly adopted in routine mental health care.<sup>14</sup> Barriers to MBC adoption and implementation are present at the patient, clinician, system, and organization levels and include time, theoretical frameworks, and perceptions of or comfort with MBC.<sup>2</sup>

Given the evidence that patients treated with MBC have superior mental health outcomes compared to those undergoing the traditional standard of care that relies on clinical assessment alone, multiple opportunities and incentives to integrate MBC routinely in the treatment of mental health conditions have evolved to incentivize MBC integration and overcome barriers.<sup>4</sup> MBC not only leads to improved clinical care for patients but also provides the foundation for care quality measurement, which is important to health plan accreditation and value-based reimbursement. Implementation of MBC provides an evidence-based framework to meet the shifting focus in health care reimbursement based on treatment value and shared risk. Many validated MBC scales can be used to meet the requirements of quality payment programs or alternative payment arrangements listed in the reimbursement sections and Appendix 1.<sup>6</sup> Thus, MBC can help improve patient symptoms, clinician performance, and value and quality-focused reimbursement models.<sup>6</sup>

#### Why Measurement-Based Care?

Increased Treatment Engagement, Insight, Symptom Validation, and Adherence

Several studies have associated MBC with improvements in patient engagement.<sup>15, 16</sup> Enabling routine symptom monitoring in clinical care has been associated with increases in patient-centered care by ensuring timely feedback and enabling clinicians' understanding of the patients' needs, which ensures more personalized care and improved treatment outcomes. It is hypothesized that MBC enhances communication<sup>17</sup> and systematic and timely feedback via information sharing and shared decision-making,<sup>18</sup> which improves physician-patient alliance and the therapeutic relationship.<sup>19</sup> MBC may improve patient and clinician awareness and symptom changes, which has been shown to be a critical predictor of treatment adherence and engagement.<sup>20, 21</sup>

Additionally, MBC via symptom rating scales allows for clinical symptom validation. Based on clinical experience, patients can better conceptualize their symptoms when completing a common scale used by many others with similar conditions. The use of standard scales may also reduce stigma surrounding mental health disorders, which mitigates a commonly cited barrier to treatment adherence or engagement. Symptom scales charted over time may make it easier for clinicians to engage in informed data-driven decision-making regarding continuation of treatment or treatment adjustments as needed. To this end, it will create a better understanding of mental health disorders and the shared experience of suffering with others with a similar condition.

Finally, in the current climate of ever-changing health technology, MBC may not only be easier to deploy and collect but also offer the opportunity of data sharing among stakeholders involved in mental health care. This can include mental health care clinicians, patient peer communities, and digital therapeutics that deploy interventions based on measurement. Such combined sources of data may give a more holistic and complete clinical picture, which could help advance treatment precision by providing more clarity on what treatments work for an individual patient.

# Interviewing and Visit Duration, Efficiency, and Greater Focus on Psychoeducation and Motivation

The routine use of MBC indices allows for asynchronous clinician ascertainment of the patient's clinical status, which saves time during the clinical appointment. In turn, this can shorten visit times, leading to improved efficiency or, alternatively, allowing the appointment's discussion to focus less on factual data gathering and more on psychoeducation, motivation, goal setting, and shared decision-making.<sup>12</sup> Standard assessments with evidence-based scales can clarify clinical outcomes and align clinicians and patients with treatment targets for different therapeutic modalities. To combat concerns regarding "cookie cutter" clinical care, periodic reconciliation of standardized assessments with the patient's personal values and goals helps ensure individual preferences for treatment are preserved.

Finally, clinician experience has shown that routine use of MBC may help when it comes to comparing treatment efficacy and reducing hindsight and observer bias in clinical therapies.<sup>22</sup> For example, when routinely employing a patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) score to grade responsiveness to depressive symptoms in clinical care, both patient and clinician can more easily track symptom burden over time and correlate it with the initiation of new medications or therapy approaches. Visually charting out the numerical composite of individual core depression symptoms also clarifies a patient's historical progress through treatment. A person with major depression may improve his or her PHQ-9 score from 15

(moderate depression) to an 11 (also moderate depression) on sertraline 100 mg daily. Subjectively, this improvement may feel greater than improvements on other therapies, but the use of routine MBC would identify a potential partial response to the medication, thereby opening avenues of discussion around increasing the dose to achieve a full response. Those avenues may not have been identified when relying solely on the patient's subjective report of improvement.

# Measurement-Based Care Can Facilitate Improved Population Health, Patient Discharge, and Allocation of Resources

In addition to the individual clinician- and patient-level benefits cited above, MBC also facilitates targeting of treatment resources to populations most in need of these resources.<sup>23</sup> Quantifying patient symptomatology allows clinical teams to focus their time and energy on those not achieving symptom recovery, through intensified outreach and treatment. At the same time, this method allows for the strategic monitoring of patients in early recovery to quickly detect symptom relapse and identify those at risk for relapse via symptom measurement or other early signals (e.g., sudden lack of treatment engagement). Because MBC helps align treatment goals between the patient and clinician, it may facilitate timely patient discharge once recovery is reached and sustained, promoting improved mental health access for others in need.

## Why Now?

Due in part to increased demand amidst the COVID-19 pandemic<sup>24</sup> and reduced stigma associated with seeking mental health treatment, the need for mental health services has significantly increased.<sup>25</sup> Consequently, the landscape of mental health services is rapidly changing. Private equity and venture capital investors contributed over \$5.1 billion dollars in mental health startups in 2021.<sup>26</sup> While most of the new experiments in mental health service delivery do not increase the size of the workforce or lower care demand directly, it's apparent that many are relying on MBC to help make care more efficient, standardized, and outcome oriented. Further, MBC can facilitate timely outflow of patients from a practice by identifying patients with clinical remission or a significant response, allowing clinicians to meet the growing mental health treatment demand by taking on new clients. Practitioners are in high demand, but those unfamiliar with the clinical incorporation of MBC may lack the skills needed for evolving practice platforms.

Additionally, technology and EMRs are increasingly incorporating patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs), typically symptom-based rating scales, into clinical workflows and patient portals. Third-party software vendors are selling integrated MBC workflows to health systems and payers, and directly to consumers. The demand and comfort from patients utilizing routine screening tools appears compelling to some clinicians and systems, leading them to incorporate MBC into their practices.

Finally, MBC may help clinicians and organizations move from fee-for-service models to value-based care (discussed further in reimbursement models).<sup>27</sup> MBC aligns with the triple aim of U.S. health care and goals of the Affordable Care Act, to decrease the cost curve, and improve patient health outcomes

and the patients experience of care. MBC is a low-cost strategy to demonstrate patient improvement through validated measures<sup>10</sup> and has been shown to improve patient-reported experiences of care.<sup>19, 28</sup>

## **Opportunities for Reimbursement**

### Direct Billing Reimbursement

Large-scale implementation of MBC in routine mental health clinical practice may be facilitated or expedited through sustainable reimbursement channels. At present, there are two primary pathways through which clinicians are reimbursed for MBC: by using direct billing codes and through value-based contracting with payers.

The following codes are often used to bill for mental health screening and follow-up assessments. Each code includes a description and key notes on billing and utilization. Of note, coding stipulations may differ by payer and region. Each physician is encouraged to consult with his or her health system, payer, or local authority for details.

Code/Name	Payment	Overview	
96127 – Brief emotional/behavioral assessment	~\$5	<ul> <li>Completed by staff on behalf of a clinician (MD, DO, PA, or ARNP)</li> <li>Interpretation typically billed separately through E&amp;M codes</li> <li>Allowed to bill for up to four unique screening instruments per visit (i.e., for different diagnoses, such as depression and anxiety)</li> <li>A variety of instruments are acceptable (including PHQ-9 and GAD-7, among others)</li> <li>May be limits to number of times billable per year</li> <li>Reimbursement amount may differ by payer</li> </ul>	
96161 – Administration of caregiver-focused health risk assessment instrument (e.g., depression inventory) for the benefit of the patient	~\$3	<ul> <li>Completed by staff on behalf of a clinician (MD, DO, PA, or ARNP)</li> <li>Interpretation typically billed separately through E&amp;M codes</li> <li>Part of the Health and Behavior Assessment/Intervention billing; for this code, the focus is not directly on the patient, but is rather on a caregiver for the patient (and how this caregiver's health impacts the patient)</li> <li>Instruments such as: o Edinburgh Postnatal Depression Scale (EPDS)</li> </ul>	

## Table 1. CPT<sup>®</sup> codes relevant to MBC<sup>29</sup>

		<ul> <li>o Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2 or PHQ-9)</li> <li>o Vanderbilt ADHD rating scales</li> <li>May be limits to number of times billable per year</li> <li>Reimbursement amount may differ by payer</li> </ul>
99484 and G0323– Care management services for behavioral health conditions, at least 20 minutes of clinical staff time (over one calendar month)	~ \$43	<ul> <li>Billed based on the time clinical staff (or the clinician directly) spends on identified activities</li> <li>Cumulative time must reach at least 20 minutes over the course of a month</li> <li>Instruments include all validated rating scales</li> <li>Reimbursement amount may differ by payer</li> </ul>

## Value-Based Reimbursement, Indirect Billing

In addition to direct billing for MBC services, clinicians may be eligible to be reimbursed through valuebased payment arrangements with payers. These arrangements may occur at the health system or individual clinician level. In accountable care organizations (ACOs) or pay-for-performance arrangements, mental health screening and MBC may be contract stipulations.<sup>6</sup> In such cases, the administration of evidence-based instruments is not necessarily directly reimbursed, though it could be indirectly financed through capitation or incentive payments when actions such as MBC processes are consistently performed. Furthermore, value-based payment arrangements may include clearly defined clinical outcome benchmarks or targets. For example, an ACO contract could include a stipulation of depression treatment response for 50% of patients initially screening positive. This specific contract benchmark could be linked to incentive payments, either bonuses or penalties. In such an arrangement, mental health screening and rigorous MBC would be required to successfully meet the obligations of the contract, leading to an indirect — albeit powerful — financial incentive.

At the individual clinician level, a growing number of payers are implementing financial strategies to incentivize MBC with evidence-based instruments.<sup>4</sup> A common arrangement is for payers to offer enhanced reimbursement for mental health visits when clinicians commit to using MBC and treatment to target with clear benchmarks. Typically, such arrangements include upside risk only, meaning clinicians stand to gain reimbursement for using MBC, but do not lose financially when patients do not reach outcome benchmarks over a certain time period. The purpose of these arrangements is to incentivize MBC (as payers are aware that it is associated with improved clinical outcomes and quality) while also giving clinicians the option to receive higher reimbursement (thereby possibly also incentivizing clinicians to participate in insurance networks). Although some payers have begun to directly offer such arrangements to their in-network clinicians, others use third-party technology services to define clear outcome benchmarks, implement enhanced reimbursement, and broadly incentivize MBC.

#### Quality Measurement: Reimbursement and Accreditation

#### Impact of Quality Measurement on Reimbursement

Quality measurement is used to standardize the approach to outcome measurement and quality across health systems and clinicians.<sup>30</sup> Quality measures are developed and tested using large data sets that are linked to patient outcomes and informed by clinical experts. Health care clinicians collect data that they then report to federal and commercial payers; the results of these measures (whether a clinician or health system met the defined threshold for a particular measure) can then influence their reimbursement rates (e.g., Medicare adjusts future payments based on Merit-based Incentive Payment System reporting). Performance on these measures may also be used more broadly in public rankings of the quality of care delivered by a particular health plan or hospital (e.g., Medicare Star Ratings).<sup>31</sup> Quality measures that report directly on outcomes (e.g., the number of patients with diabetes in a health plan who have evidence of HbA1c levels within normal range, and therefore have well-controlled diabetes) provide the most valuable information on whether quality care is being delivered. Because the repeated use of validated rating scales has been linked so strongly with improved outcomes, it can serve as an important surrogate for actual improvement in outcomes.

For example, while clinicians might use a validated scale like the PHQ-9 to measure a patient's progress toward achieving depression remission, the translation of that clinical activity into a quality measure aggregates the data from many clinicians, thereby facilitating an assessment of whether the service system as a whole is achieving a benchmark level of depression remission in their patients. Use of the PHQ-9 in the clinical setting is an example of MBC, but examination of the scores on all the PHQ-9s over a population of patients leads to reporting on the quality measure. Therefore, MBC can be conceptualized as individual patient-level data, while quality measurement is used to analyze population-level data. While there are numerous validated rating scales that can be used within routine mental health care for the most common disorders (Appendix 1), the only aggregated QMs developed thus far related to depression response or remission require use of the PHQ-9.

Quality measures are used within payment programs to determine the extent to which individual clinicians or health plans will be reimbursed for the care they deliver. For example, the Medicare Shared Savings Plan (MSSP) program rewards health plans for reducing costs, and those reward payments can be increased or decreased based on the quality of care delivered as well as specific outcomes within a population. The Merit-based Incentive Payment System(MIPS) rewards/penalizes individual clinicians based on their reporting on quality measures and outcomes, providing up to a 9%) increase in payment rates for high performance and up to a 9% decrease in payment rates for low performance.<sup>32</sup> A recent analysis of MIPS performance data showed lower average performance rates among psychiatrists than among other outpatient physicians.<sup>33</sup> The authors suggest this is at least in part due to a lack of available MIPS measures directly relevant to psychiatry; this highlights an opportunity for improvement that could be addressed by a higher uptake of MBC among outpatients' psychiatrists. The APA recently completed work, funded by CMS, to develop several new quality measures that can be used in MIPS and other quality measurement programs. Most of these measures will be focused on the delivery of MBC,

covering a number of behavioral health conditions, as well as on expanding measurement of outcomes to additional conditions beyond depression. These new measures will support provide the opportunity to directly tie use of MBC clinically with opportunities for performance payment.<sup>13, 34-39</sup>

#### Accreditation

In addition, organizations that accredit health plans also require reporting on quality measures and the implementation of MBC. The National Committee on Quality Assurance (NCQA) utilizes health care effectiveness data and information set (HEDIS) measures to accredit publicly funded and commercial health plans. HEDIS includes measures of depression remission based on PHQ-9 results. Plans that succeed with these measures will be able to receive higher payments and enroll more patients than those that do not meet these goals.

Accreditation entities, such as The Joint Commission (TJC) and URAC (formerly known as the Utilization Review Accreditation Commission), conduct periodic reviews of hospitals, health plans, pharmacies, and health care organizations. Most hospitals and health systems participate in at least one of these programs and must meet these accreditation requirements in order to deliver care and remain competitive. Both TJC and URAC have recently added standards that address MBC.

In 2018, TJC instituted a new standard that assesses whether behavioral health organizations are routinely using MBC in their provision of care. Health systems and clinicians that are now TJC accredited for behavioral health are required to document how many patients with any behavioral health disorder have received screening and follow-up measurements to guide treatment decisions. TJC Standard CTS.03.01.09 requires behavioral health clinicians to (1) use standardized tools to monitor patients' treatment progress, (2) use the data obtained from repeated measurement in treatment planning and delivery, and (3) compile and analyze said data in order to improve the quality of care delivered.

#### Table 2. Joint Commission Standard for Behavioral Health Providers

Standard CTS.03.01.09 – The organization assesses the outcomes of care, treatment, or services provided to the individual served.

EP 1 – The organization uses a standardized tool or instrument to monitor the individual's progress in achieving his or her care, treatment, or service goals.

EP 2 – The organization gathers and analyzes the data generated through standardized monitoring, and the results are used to inform the goals and objectives of the individual's plan for care, treatment, or services, as needed.

EP 3 – The organization evaluates the outcomes of care, treatment, or services provided to the population(s) it serves by aggregating and analyzing the data gathered through the standardized monitoring effort.

## Table 3. URAC Measurement-Based Health Care Designation Standards at a Glance

1: Evidence-Based Self-Assessment – The organization engages in timely evidence-based patient selfassessment at each clinical encounter.

1-1: Self-Assessment Data – The self-assessment process includes:

- a. Gathering structured quantifiable data describing the patient's perceptions about psychiatric symptoms;
- b. Enabling the clinician to compare current symptom severity to past symptom severity;
- c. Informing the provider's evaluation of the clinical effectiveness of the current treatment; and
- d. Promoting accountability for treatment outcomes.

2: Symptom Rating Scale – The standardized symptom rating scale is designed to produce reliable symptom severity data.

2-1: Symptom Severity Data – The rating scale(s) in use are:

- a. Supplemental to clinical interviews;
- b. Current, interpretable, and readily available during the clinical encounter;
- c. Clinically actionable;
- d. Culturally validated in low-income and minority populations; and
- e. Stored in electronic medical records in such a way that it is/they are easily extractable.

3: Classification of Symptom Severity – Changes in symptom severity are classified into clinically meaningful categories.

4: Treatment to Target – Guidelines are employed to enable the development of individualized plans of care and enable identification of patients who achieve remission.

URAC has recently released an accreditation standard that is available across all its accreditation programs: Designation for MBC. Currently, this measure is voluntary (as opposed to TJC), but the clinician organizations are encouraged to complete it, and employers and payers could be encouraged to consider it when partnering with health systems and clinicians.

## MBC as a Component of a Larger Behavioral Health Integration System

Another example where MBC is required and embedded within reimbursement is the psychiatric Collaborative Care Model (CoCM). CoCM is delivered in the primary care setting to patients with any behavioral health condition. Enrolled patients work with a behavioral health care manager, who collects information related to the patient's history and symptoms and then reviews that information with a psychiatric consultant. The model has previously been described in detail,<sup>40</sup> with MBC playing an essential role in achieving successful outcomes with engagement, access, and cost containment.<sup>41</sup>

A key requirement for CoCM reimbursement includes the use of validated rating scales to track symptoms on a regular basis. This requirement facilitates treatment toward evidence-based targets and high rates of improvement in clinical outcomes for participants.<sup>40</sup> It also allows clinicians to report on HEDIS quality measures utilizing outcome data collected through the clinical program. The CoCM is reimbursed by Medicare, most commercial insurers, and a growing number of state Medicaid programs.

## Considerations for Measures Selected in Clinical Practice

There are numerous rating scales shown to provide accurate qualitative and quantitative representation of patient mental health symptoms, as compared to an exam conducted by a clinician.<sup>4, 5</sup> Many of these scales are also sensitive to change over time. Scales that meet these criteria are available for most mental health conditions. Some examples of these are listed in Appendix 1. For clinicians or systems interested in implementing MBC in their routine clinical practice, it can be daunting to have to decide which measures to select. Generally, measures can be considered on four separate criteria: cost, ease of use and administration, validity, and reliability.

Many measures are under copyright and only available for use with payment. Payment arrangements can include per use, one-time unlimited access, subscription, or software licensing. Some companies bundle measure packages together and handle the licensing or copyright payment through their one-time or recurring fees. These companies also often provide an interface for patients and physicians to input and track responses, assign measures, and integrate measures into existing EMR systems for aggregate reporting. Many measures, such as the PHQ-9, are free for use without restriction. Appendix 1 lists some common measures.

The mode of administration and ease of use are also important to consider for each measure, as they can affect its validity and access. Some measures are computer guided, some are administered online, some can be completed with pencil and paper, and many are multimodal. And some measures are intended to be completed by the patient, while others are completed by the clinician or other collateral informants, such as teachers or family members. Generally, measures that are valid and can be completed by the patient alone are ideal, as they can save clinician time and are free from clinician reporting bias, which could be a conflict of interest in value-based payment arrangements.

Finally, measures with reported validity and reliability across a range of demographics are superior to measures with little history of empirical evaluation. Widely adopted measures, such as the PHQ-9, have been validated across a range of populations, languages, and ages, with relatively few modifications.<sup>42</sup> Validity of a measure is often ascertained through comparison to another gold-standard measure, structured clinician interview, or both. Reliability is graded through repeated use of the measure in a similar population over time. An important component of both reliability and validity is sensitivity to change with illness state and frequency of measurement. The PHQ-9, for instance, has been shown to be sensitive to change with depression severity over time when compared with a structured clinical interview, and can be repeated every two weeks.<sup>43</sup> It is helpful for the selected measure to be reflective of the state of illness and as near real time as possible.

The following framework can help guide clinicians in choosing measures that meet their clinical practice and population needs.

Consideration	Example	
Cost (licensing, implementation)	PHQ-9 is free for download and use.	
Administration (channel, frequency, user)	PHQ-9 is patient completed, and can be administered on	
	paper, online, or within the EMR. Frequency is every 2	
	weeks.	
Reliability	PHQ-9 has repeated within-rater and inter-rater	
	reliability.	
Validity	PHQ-9 has been shown to be a valid measure of	
	depressive symptoms compared with both structured	
	clinician interviews and other depression scales. It is also	
	sensitive to change with the illness state every 2 weeks.	

Table 4: Framework for Measure Selection

# Technology Considerations for MBC Implementation

Technology offers a practical approach to implementing MBC, especially through novel means to capture clinically relevant data. While using tablets in waiting rooms was an increasingly popular means of collecting clinical data before COVID-19, the pandemic has pushed clinical measurement in new directions. And while there are many technologies, smartphones are useful to consider given that the majority of patients today already own one and are willing to use them in initiatives geared toward improving their own mental health.<sup>44, 45</sup>

Focusing on measurement, smartphones offer the opportunity to gather patient-reported data at nearly any time and from nearly every patient. Smartphones expand the potential of MBC beyond classical "active" data — such as through surveys or other measurements that require active engagement with a patient for data to be captured. This is because smartphones (and devices with sensors like smartwatches) now also offer "passive" data. Passive data includes measurements like step count, sleep, and exercise patterns collected by the sensors present on most smartphones and many wearables. As the name implies, passive data collection does not require active engagement. Passive data offers a means to begin to quantify health behaviors and functional changes that are often a key target for MBC — and have been challenging to quantify until now.

With the potential to have patients send data at any time, ranging from surveys to step counts, there is potential for useful as well as overwhelming measurement today. Clinical research and scales have not yet caught up to the potential of frequent and repeated patient measures. PHQ-9 and GAD-7 have often been used in this context and appear to offer useful information when assessed over time.<sup>46</sup> There are no standards around digital behavioral data such as step counts, sleep, etc. Helping patients track individual baselines and changes in the context of a specific clinical scenario appears to be the best employment of this data thus far.

The potential to capture so much data presents both ethical and even legal considerations. From an ethical perspective, data capture must be done only in the interest of patient care. As ethical standards for this type of data capture evolve, research ethics around respect of persons, beneficence, and justice offer useful guidance. Clinicians should set clear expectations with patients, particularly around capture of data such as thoughts of suicide. Explaining that although a patient can report symptoms at any time to a device, that does not mean such data will be interpreted or acted upon, is critical to avoid false expectations of care.

Like all digital health data, digital measurements present risk in terms of privacy and data sharing. Often patients must consent to share data with companies that make the technology used to capture active or passive data streams (e.g., device or app companies). For example, there are hundreds of mood and medication tracking apps that can be used to help patients assess their recovery, but many do not adequately protect patient data.<sup>47</sup> Often such data is stored by the company and only summary metrics are available to the patient or clinician. The American Psychiatric Association's App Evaluation framework offers guidance on red flags and other considerations for selecting online mental health apps.<sup>48</sup>

While smartphones enable unique tracking properties that can help realize the potential of MBC, it is important to also consider usability concerns. On the patient side, there is a preponderance of research indicating that repeated tracking through active data, i.e., surveys, wanes to a minimal level of engagement after just a few weeks.<sup>49</sup> Thus, an ideal use case may be briefer periods of measurements to inform a more immediate clinical question, such as changes in sleep in the initial weeks after starting a new medication for example.

On the clinician side, few apps offer easy interoperability with EMRs. This can create a documentation barrier and also a time barrier if the clinician must log in to special proprietary portals to access data. One means that apps can transfer data to EMRs is through an application programming interface (API). The government is working to create standard APIs that will be built into apps and EMRs so that, in the future, it is easier to transfer data. Asking EMR vendors which APIs they support and how they interface with app data is an important step to include in EMR evaluation and selection.

As a practical example, the Digital Psychiatry Clinic at Beth Israel Deaconess Medical Center in Boston uses apps to inform MBC. As shown in Figure 1 below, a patient can capture real-time surveys (active data) and sensors (passive data) from his or her smartphone. The type of data captured is customized for each patient based on his or her clinical needs. This data can be used to guide self-help activities on the app and is also shared and discussed during clinical sessions. The apps interface with the clinical medical record system, allowing the clinicians to integrate clinical data obtained in the app with their documentation, tracking, and clinical decision-making.



## Figure 1: Data and Measure Integration Through External Devices

# Challenges and Opportunities for MBC Implementation

Although the evidence for MBC shows that it outperforms usual care, implementation is still limited. Such underutilization likely reflects barriers to MBC implementation, which affect the adoption, implementation, or maintenance of a practice.<sup>1</sup> These barriers can be viewed from a patient, clinician, organizational, or systems level.<sup>1</sup>

## Patient-reported challenges and opportunities for implementation of MBC

Studies examining the barriers associated with implementation of patient-reported outcomes include concerns regarding the time taken to complete the measures,<sup>50</sup> the impact on the patient-clinician relationship,<sup>51</sup> loss of confidentiality,<sup>50</sup> and patients' inability to participate in MBC.<sup>3, 52</sup>

Strategies reported to decrease the patient time burden include MBC systems allowing the patient to complete the assessment at home or prior to the appointment,<sup>53</sup> adaptive testing based on patient replies,<sup>53</sup> and thoughtful choices when it comes to which measures to include in the assessments.<sup>54</sup> Confidentiality concerns are best addressed by sending and storing the measures using HIPAA or HL7 compliance technologies. Providing the MBC in a variety of formats that facilitate completion for patients with cognitive or sensory differences, or engaging with a staff member trained in administration with such populations, are suggested strategies to engage patients with symptoms or impairments that may limit their ability to engage in MBC.<sup>3, 52</sup> To date, the research suggests that MBC

enhances the patient-clinician relationship, and therefore setting organizational culture around MBC would be effective for this perceived barrier.<sup>55</sup>

Pro Tips to Facilitate Implementation from the Patient's Perspective

- Invest in tools that can engage the patient to complete MBC forms/questionnaires prior to appointments and with as little friction as possible, that also allow the clinician to view and analyze results in a timely manner.
  - Examples include partnering with companies that can be integrated with your EMR (e.g., PsychPRO and others) and proactively texting questionnaires to patients queued on upcoming visits.
  - Utilize existing integrated EMR surveys that are accessible through the patient portal.
- Add context and information about the use of MBC indices at patient intake and/or at each administration.
- Encourage clinicians to acknowledge the receipt of the receipt of the MBC results to the patient during the clinical encounter (e.g., if the patient just completed the PHQ-9, acknowledge the results at the beginning of the visit to indicate to the patient that the clinician has reviewed them and incorporated their input into their clinical care and recommendations).

## Clinician-reported challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation

There is a robust qualitative literature regarding barriers perceived by clinicians regarding MBC. One of the main barriers is the perception that MBC will not add to clinical treatment or outcomes, with clinical judgment being equal to MBC.<sup>56</sup> Research comparing MBC to clinical judgment shows the efficacy of MBC over clinical judgment alone.<sup>1</sup> Similarly, many clinician s report being unaware of or uncomfortable with MBC.<sup>57</sup> Consequently, strategies shown to improve adoption of evidence-based practices would be effective to overcome these barriers. Such strategies include clinician training,<sup>57</sup> case-based examples,<sup>57</sup> incentives for utilizing MBC, <sup>58,59</sup> and having clinic champions for MBC. <sup>58-60</sup> Another commonly cited clinician barrier to implementing MBC is the administration burden related to the time needed to give or document the measurements, support staff to help with administration, or financial support to set up and continue MBC.<sup>61</sup> Strategies to overcome these barriers include organizational strategies facilitating the administrative needs, embedding the MBC tools in the EMRs,<sup>53, 62</sup> and adjusting billing requirements.<sup>63</sup> Finally, clinicians may be concerned that MBC will be used to judge clinical acumen, reimbursement, or quality at a patient or organizational level. Providing the rationale behind MBC from organizational leadership and training on the purpose of MBC may overcome this barrier.<sup>1</sup>

Pro Tips for Implementation from a Clinician's Perspective

- Perform an in-service review of the use of MBC and associations with improvements in quality of care.
- Utilize existing clinical quality groups or committees to produce recommendations about which MBC instruments should be implemented and how to utilize them in clinical practice.
  - Select measures that reflect your practice co-morbidity and demographic profile; use the Framework for Measure Selection (see Table 4) in this document to aid in your selection.

## Organizational challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation

Organizations can greatly facilitate MBC implementation by providing training as well as MBC collection and tracking resources and setting an organizational and leadership culture supporting MBC and other evidence-based practices.<sup>62</sup> Engaging local champions,<sup>60, 64, 65</sup> forming MBC implementation teams to spread implementation through the organization, and training of those in leadership in MBC<sup>57</sup> are effective strategies to support an organizational culture supporting MBC. Resources for staff or leadership training can be obtained through funding mechanisms supported by state or federal bodies.<sup>62</sup> A potential barrier in implementing MBC in an organization is understanding the optimal measurements to incorporate in MBC.<sup>66</sup> There are a number of specialty-specific resources available to help guide measurement selection, and partnering with other organizations that have successfully implemented MBC can be helpful to overcome this barrier.<sup>54</sup> Reviewing the literature regarding MBC tool screening or outcome utility can also be helpful. Finally, staff changes or turnovers can impede maintenance of MBC or other practices; local champions and implementation teams that provide ongoing training and support, particularly for new hires, can overcome this barrier.<sup>67</sup>

#### Pro Tips to Overcome Organizational Challenges

- Dedicate staff to processes at check-in that "automate" some MBCs, such as the PHQ-9 or GAD-7.
- Invest in staff training and having champions in MBC who can facilitate MBC implementation.

## Health care system challenges and opportunities for MBC implementation

Health care systems can support MBC implementation goals through health care policies, professional society recommendations, and economic support.<sup>64</sup> Value-based care can address lack of incentives from third-party payers, engage relevant professional societies to recommend MBC, and begin discussions through expert panels and consensus panels to guide systems health care policies that could support MBC implementation.<sup>1</sup>

#### Pro Tips for System-Level Implementation

- Invest in departmental or clinical budgetary line items to support the implementation of MBC —through either dedicated staff FTE, technological processes, or time.
- Designate MBC as the "standard of care" in your health system or institution, making it an expected part of every significant patient encounter.
- Identify system-based incentives to utilize MBC, including adding the requirement to compensation plan incentives.

## Other potential challenges and opportunities for implementation of MBC

Some MBC solutions or measurement tools are proprietary and associated with costs. However, early adoption of MBC using evidence-based, nonproprietary measurements for common disorders, such as the patient health questionnaire (PHQ-9) for depression, can still accomplish the goals of MBC and set the framework for further implementation. Implementation of MBC is greatly facilitated by integration into an EHR and having a framework for reviewing the patient's answers prior to the visit. APA's Qualified Clinical Data Registry, PsychPRO,<sup>7</sup> provides clinicians (individuals, small groups, and large systems) with electronic access to PROMS through the registry platform with the ability to collect data, monitor patient progress, and benchmark quality measurement performance across registry participants, as well as provide regulatory reporting for possible bonus patients.

MBC can still be conducted in organizations without an EHR, or in smaller clinics or private practices that may not have EHRs. Investing in clinician training, engaging staff with patients to help complete the measurements, and having a tracking tool that can be referenced as part of the clinic visit can facilitate MBC in these settings.

Pro Tips for Other Considerations

- Consider the measures that most meet the needs of the clinics involved.
- Prioritize patient and clinician ease of accessing the MBC data.
- Use of freely available tools for training may help implement MBC.

# The Future of Measurement-Based Care

## Innovations in MBC

As medical care increasingly incorporates digital health components and interventions, it is important to consider the ways in which technology can impact or enhance MBC. For years, evidence-based outcome measures (e.g., PHQ-9, GAD-7) have been administered digitally to patients in the clinic or through secure online portals. This has streamlined outcome assessments and provided numerous advantages. Digital administration allows for more efficient clinical visits, automated scoring, immediate data entry, longitudinal visualization of scores over time, and a reduced carbon footprint. At the same time, there are notable disadvantages to the digital administration of mental health screeners, such as potential disparities in computer or mobile access, limited technological proficiency, privacy concerns, and the identification of acute mental health needs in patients who are off-site (e.g., suicidal ideation).<sup>68</sup> Engagement with and adherence to these measures—both patient completion and clinician review—can be less predictable outside of the clinic setting.<sup>68</sup>

Advantages and disadvantages notwithstanding, digitally administered screeners are typically identical in content and structure to their legacy paper-and-pencil analogues. Consequently, they include the same question items and the same number of items during each assessment, regardless of the respondent's prior answers. This repetitive presentation of question items renders such instruments "static" and can lead to response bias or reduced engagement among patients and clinicians. For example, a patient who has never noted appetite or sleep changes in the past may find it tedious to have to answer question items targeting these symptoms each time he or she completes the PHQ-9. Further, static or legacy instruments are predicated on classical testing theory (CTT), which underpins traditional psychometric parameters like reliability, validity, and other factors. This theoretical paradigm, although well established, has several key limitations, the most notable of which is a lack of real-time uncertainty measurement at the individual respondent level.<sup>68-70</sup>

In recent years, Item Response Theory (IRT) has emerged as an alternative to CTT, with a variety of key advantages. Instruments incorporating IRT, collectively known as Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT), are built upon large digital question banks in which each item is ranked sequentially by severity. Higher-severity items assess more advanced levels of illness (e.g., severe panic attacks), while lower-severity items target the opposite (e.g., mild social anxiety). Respondents are first presented with questions targeting average illness severity. Based on these initial responses, CAT algorithms tailor subsequent

questions to the detected level of illness severity.<sup>68</sup> In this way, CAT instruments are iteratively personalized to each unique respondent. Importantly, IRT allows composite scores of CAT assessments including different question items, both from the same respondent and among respondents, to be meaningfully compared. Administration ceases after a certain number of items are completed or the concurrently assessed uncertainty level falls below a target threshold. This approach can improve efficiency, since, unlike in legacy instruments, there is no obligation to present the same number of items administered by an average of 50%, with no reduction in measurement precision.<sup>68, 69</sup>

One notable example of a CAT instrument for depression is the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System-Depression (PROMIS-D). For adults, the minimum number of question items administered is four, and the measure is stopped after either 12 items are administered or the measurement uncertainty reaches a target threshold.<sup>71</sup> The median number of items per administration is four.<sup>72</sup> This can save valuable clinical time, especially when implemented at scale, with one recent article describing a real-world PROMIS-D implementation in a dermatology clinic requiring an administration time of only 1.1 minutes on average (compared to 2 minutes for the PHQ-9).<sup>73</sup> CAT instruments are now available for many behavioral health diagnoses and have been tested in various real-world populations, such as university students, academic clinics, and justice settings. Additionally, CAT measures have been integrated into major EMRs and have established Application Programming Interfaces (APIs) to facilitate large-scale implementation.<sup>68</sup> There are also a growing number of CAT instruments with "conversion factors" that allow composite scores from these novel assessments to be meaningfully compared to legacy instruments.<sup>74</sup>

At the same time, CAT instruments are not without challenges. Their foundation on large question banks and algorithms requires digital administration, which comes with the same limitations as do the digitized versions of legacy instruments described above. CAT instruments may also come with financial implementation and sustainment costs that may be a significant barrier in some settings, especially when legacy instruments are commonly free of charge. However, we believe that these challenges may be outweighed by the potential of CAT to increase engagement in MBC by reducing response bias and receptiveness in assessments, while also improving measurement efficiency and precision.<sup>68</sup>

# Opportunities to coincide measures with changing clinical treatments and pathological understanding

Recent evidence in the field shows that despite effective treatment in the field, about a third of individuals with depression fail to achieve symptoms remission using standard of care treatment.<sup>75</sup> In the recent decade, the emergence of novel treatments such as (R,S)-ketamine and neurosteroid-based treatments such as brexenolone, that show rapid actions within hours in patients with treatment-resistant depression, has revolutionized our understanding of antidepressant response and expanded the pharmacologic options for these subgroups. This led to the first FDA-approved novel therapies with distinct mechanisms of action (i.e., esketamine, brexenolone)<sup>76, 77</sup> in decades. Yet, with the expansion of the treatment armamentarium, there is great unmet need for clinical symptom measures that reflect

the fast-acting properties of these drugs, as most of the current measures are created based on the traditional existing standard-of-care treatment. Digital phenotyping through smart devices, biometric tracking (sleep, movement, heart-rate variability), and natural language processing platforms are being developed to potentially meet this need but have not yet been validated. As noted previously, the outcome selected will need to be based off the capacity for implementation, cost, reliability and validity, and clinical utility.

# Implementation Strategies for Solo and Small-Group Practices

Collection of patient-reported data has long been a common component of health care delivery, relying on paper-and-pencil data collection and clinician review at the time of the patient visit. While EMRs and other digital tools create ample ability to automate and digitize both the collection and the interpretation of this data, health systems and clinicians will need to integrate those tools into their practice workflows.

Most health systems utilize EMRs that already include most of these components, including the ability to deliver rating scales to patients either in the office or prior to a visit; the integration of data collected into the EHR like other lab data, including generation of alerts and action steps; generation of billing codes when appropriate; and aggregation of this data for quality reporting purposes. While these capabilities are readily available, they are often not easily usable without some additional design of the IT system.

Choice of scales	Most EHRs will have a limited set of rating scales available. Either use these or find out if you can add scales.
Availability of scales to patients: User access	How will patients be "given" the scales? In the office, through a portal, or on an external website. In some EHRs, scales can be ordered as needed; or they may require a specific appointment type. Determine if there is a way to send patients repeat measures either routinely or as needed.
Are scales easy to complete: User interface	Understand what patients will see when they complete the scales. The users' ability to actually fill the scales out matters when it comes to making sure they will actually complete them.
Where will the data appear in the chart?	Data should appear like other lab data, with graphics showing results over time. Determine whether someone will get alerts for abnormal results. Results can also be

## Table 5. Considerations for automating or integrating MBC

	accompanied by "interpretation" of the	
	results.	
Will patients be given information about	Patients may see results or alerts when they	
their results?	complete the scales, or a summary can be	
	provided at the time of the visit.	

# Summary and Conclusion

MBC is an evidence-based strategy that improves patient outcomes. In addition to improving patient care, MBC aligns with value-based reimbursement programs and quality measurements, facilitating clinician practice sustainability in a changing reimbursement landscape. MBC can facilitate the identification and prioritization of patients with worsening symptoms, allowing the limited mental health workforce the ability to triage patients based on symptoms and then individualize treatment strategies. There are a number of resources and models available to clinicians interested in implementing MBC in their practice. This evidence summary and the noted resources can help clinicians overcome any potential challenges to MBC implementation.

Instrument	Condition/Type	Cost	Patient Administered
Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ- 9)*	Depression	Free	Yes
PROMIS Depression	Depression	Free	Yes
General Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7)*	Anxiety	Free	Yes
PROMIS Anxiety	Anxiety	Free	Yes
Panic Disorder Severity Scale – Self- Report (PDSS-SR)*	Panic attacks	Free	Yes
PROMIS Alcohol	Alcohol use disorders	Free	Yes
US-Alcohol Use Disorders Identification Test-Consumption (USAUDIT-C)*	Alcohol use disorders	Free	Yes
Brief Addiction Monitor (BAM-R)*	Substance use disorders	Free	Yes
Post-Traumatic Stress Disorder (PTSD) Checklist (PCL)*	Trauma	Free	Yes
PTSD Checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5)	Trauma	Free	Yes
Asuld ADHD Symptom Rating Scale (ASRS)	ADHD	Free	Yes
Columbia–Suicide Severity Rating Scale (C-SSRS)	Suicide	Free	No
Ask Suicide Screening Questions (ASQ)	Suicide	Free	No
Brief Pain Inventory (BPI)	Pain	Free	Yes
Positive and Negative Syndrome Scale-6 (PANSS-6)	Psychosis	Free	No
Brief Psychiatric Rating Scale (BPRS)	Psychiatric severity	Free	No
Altman Self-Rated Mania Scale (ASRM)*	Mania	Free	Yes
Eating Disorder Examination – Questionnaire Short (EDE-QS)	Eating disorder pathology	Free	Yes
Florida Obsessive-Compulsive Inventory (FOCI) C-FOCI (child version)	Obsessive compulsive symptomology	Free	Yes
Edinburgh Post Natal Depression Screen	Maternal depression	Free	Yes
Medical Outcomes Study Short-Form Health Survey (SF-12)*	Health-related quality of life/functional status	Free	Yes
World Health Organization Disability Assessment Schedule (WHODAS II)	Functional status	Free	Yes

# Appendix 1: Examples of Validated Adult Rating Scales

\*Kennedy Forum recommended measure.

# References

- 1. Lewis CC, Boyd M, Puspitasari A, et al. Implementing Measurement-Based Care in Behavioral Health: A Review. *JAMA Psychiatry*. Mar 1 2019;76(3):324-335. doi:10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2018.3329
- 2. Aboraya A, Nasrallah HA, Elswick DE, et al. Measurement-based Care in Psychiatry-Past, Present, and Future. *Innov Clin Neurosci*. Nov 1 2018;15(11-12):13-26.
- 3. Lavallee DC, Chenok KE, Love RM, et al. Incorporating Patient-Reported Outcomes Into Health Care to Engage Patients and Enhance Care. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. Apr 2016;35(4):575-82. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.2015.1362
- 4. Alter CL, Mathias, A., Zahniser, J., Shah, S., Schoenbaum, M., Harbin, H.T., McLaughlin, R, & , Sieger-Walls J. Measurement-Based Care in the Treatment of Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders. *Measurement-Based Care in the Treatment of Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders*. Meadows Mental Health Policy Institute; 2021.
- 5. The Kennedy Forum. A Core Set of Outcome Measures for Behavioral Health Across Service Settings. 2017
- Carlo AD, Benson NM, Chu F, Busch AB. Association of Alternative Payment and Delivery Models With Outcomes for Mental Health and Substance Use Disorders: A Systematic Review. JAMA Netw Open. Jul 1 2020;3(7):e207401. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.7401
- 7. American Psychiatric Association. PsychPRO: APA's Mental Health Registry. https://psychiatry.org/psychiatrists/research/registry
- 8. Langlois JP. Making a Diagnosis. In: In Mengel MBH, Warren L.; Fields, Scott A, ed. *Fundamentals of Clinical Practice* 2nd ed. Kluwer Academic/Plenum Publishers; 2022.
- 9. American Psychiatric Association. *Diagnostic and statistical manual of mental disorders* 5th ed. 2013.
- 10. Scott K, Lewis CC. Using Measurement-Based Care to Enhance Any Treatment. *Cogn Behav Pract*. Feb 2015;22(1):49-59. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.01.010
- 11. American Psychiatric Association, ed. *American Psychiatric Association Practice Guidelines for the Psychiatric Evaluation of Adults*. American Psychiatric Association Publishing; 2016. vol 3rd edition.
- 12. Culpepper L, Trivedi MH. Using measurement-based care with patient involvement to improve outcomes in depression. *Prim Care Companion CNS Disord*. 2013;15(6)doi:10.4088/PCC.12075co3c
- 13. Fortney JC, Unutzer J, Wrenn G, et al. A Tipping Point for Measurement-Based Care. *Psychiatr Serv*. Feb 1 2017;68(2):179-188. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201500439
- 14. Zimmerman M, McGlinchey JB. Why don't psychiatrists use scales to measure outcome when treating depressed patients? *J Clin Psychiatry*. Dec 2008;69(12):1916-9. doi:10.4088/jcp.v69n1209
- 15. Finn SE, & Tonsager, M. E. Information-gathering and therapeutic models of assessment: Complementary paradigms. *Psychological Assessment*. 1997;9(4): 374–385. doi:10.1037/1040-3590.9.4.374
- Kendrick T, El-Gohary M, Stuart B, et al. Routine use of patient-reported outcome measures (PROMs) for improving treatment of common mental health disorders in adults. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* Jul 13 2016;7:CD011119. doi:10.1002/14651858.CD011119.pub2
- 17. Martin-Cook K, Palmer L, Thornton L, Rush AJ, Tamminga CA, Ibrahim HM. Setting Measurement-Based Care in Motion: Practical Lessons in the Implementation and Integration of Measurement-Based Care in Psychiatry Clinical Practice. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. 2021;17:1621-1631. doi:10.2147/NDT.S308615
- 18. Chiauzzi E, Wicks P. Beyond the Therapist's Office: Merging Measurement-Based Care and Digital Medicine in the Real World. *Digit Biomark*. May-Aug 2021;5(2):176-182. doi:10.1159/000517748
- Cuperfain A, Hui, K., Berkhout, S., Foussias, G., Gratzer, D., Kidd, S., . . . Zaheer, J. Patient, family and provider views of measurement-based care in an early-psychosis intervention programme. *BJPsych Open*. 2021;7(E171)(5)doi:10.1192/bjo.2021.1005
- 20. Dixon LB, Holoshitz Y, Nossel I. Treatment engagement of individuals experiencing mental illness: review and update. *World Psychiatry*. Feb 2016;15(1):13-20. doi:10.1002/wps.20306
- 21. Thirioux B, Harika-Germaneau G, Langbour N, Jaafari N. The Relation Between Empathy and Insight in Psychiatric Disorders: Phenomenological, Etiological, and Neuro-Functional Mechanisms. *Front Psychiatry*. 2019;10:966. doi:10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00966
- Trivedi MH, Rush AJ, Gaynes BN, et al. Maximizing the adequacy of medication treatment in controlled trials and clinical practice: STAR(\*)D measurement-based care. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. Dec 2007;32(12):2479-89. doi:10.1038/sj.npp.1301390

- 23. University of Washington PBSDoPH. *Measurement-Based Treatment to Target*. 2021. https://aims.uw.edu/resource-library/measurement-based-treatment-target
- 24. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, et al. Impact of COVID-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: A systematic review. *J Affect Disord*. Dec 1 2020;277:55-64. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001
- 25. Ridout KK, Alavi M, Ridout SJ, et al. Changes in Diagnostic and Demographic Characteristics of Patients Seeking Mental Health Care During the Early COVID-19 Pandemic in a Large, Community-Based Health Care System. *J Clin Psychiatry*. Mar 3 2021;82(2)doi:10.4088/JCP.20m13685
- 26. Digital health startups banked record-breaking \$29.1B last year. Will the momentum continue in 2022? <u>https://www.fiercehealthcare.com/digital-health/digital-health-funding-topped-29b-2021-almost-doubling-2020-s-record-breaking-year.</u>
- 27. Hyatt AS, Tepper MC, O'Brien CJ. Recognizing and Seizing the Opportunities That Value-Based Payment Models Offer Behavioral Health Care. *Psychiatr Serv*. Jun 2021;72(6):732-735. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.202000044
- 28. Berwick DM, Nolan TW, Whittington J. The triple aim: care, health, and cost. *Health Aff (Millwood)*. May-Jun 2008;27(3):759-69. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.27.3.759
- 29. University of Washington PBSDoPH. Basic Coding for Intergrated Behavioral Health Care April 2021. https://aims.uw.edu/sites/default/files/Basic%20Coding%20for%20Integrated%20BH%202021\_0.pdf
- 30. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Quality Measurement and Quality Improvement. 2022. <u>https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Quality-Initiatives-Patient-Assessment-Instruments/MMS/Quality-Measure-and-Quality-Improvement-</u>
- 31. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Five-Star Quality Rating System. Updated 7/26/2022. Accessed 8/26, 2022.
- 32. Quality Payment Program. Participation Options Overview. 2022. https://qpp.cms.gov/mips/overview
- Qi AC, Joynt Maddox KE, Bierut LJ, Johnston KJ. Comparison of Performance of Psychiatrists vs. Other Outpatient Physicians in the 2020 US Medicare Merit-Based Incentive Payment System. JAMA Health Forum. 2022;3(3):e220212-e220212. doi:10.1001/jamahealthforum.2022.0212
- 34. Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services. Five-Star Quality Rating System. 2022. https://www.cms.gov/Medicare/Provider-Enrollment-and-Certification/CertificationandComplianc/FSQRS
- Dejesus RS, Vickers KS, Melin GJ, Williams MD. A system-based approach to depression management in primary care using the Patient Health Questionnaire-9. *Mayo Clin Proc.* Nov 2007;82(11):1395-402. doi:10.4065/82.11.1395
- Yeung AS, Jing Y, Brenneman SK, et al. Clinical Outcomes in Measurement-based Treatment (Comet): A trial of depression monitoring and feedback to primary care physicians. *Depress Anxiety*. Oct 2012;29(10):865-73. doi:10.1002/da.21983
- 37. Psychiatric News Alert. APA Awarded CMS Funding to Develop Quality Measures. Psychiartric News. 2022. https://alert.psychnews.org/2018/09/apa-awarded-cms-funding-to-develop.html?m=1
- 38. Joint Commision. National Patient Safety Goal on Suicide Prevention in Healthcare Settings. 2022. https://www.jointcommission.org/resources/patient-safety-topics/suicide-prevention/
- 39. URAC. Measurement-Based Care Designation. <u>https://www.urac.org/accreditation-cert/measurement-based-care-designation/</u>
- 40. University of Washington PBSDoPH. Collaborative Care. 2022. https://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care
- 41. University of Washington PBSDoPH. EVIDENCE BASE FOR COCM. 2022. <u>https://aims.uw.edu/collaborative-care/evidence-base-cocm</u>
- 42. Galenkamp H, Stronks K, Snijder MB, Derks EM. Measurement invariance testing of the PHQ-9 in a multiethnic population in Europe: the HELIUS study. *BMC Psychiatry*. 2017/10/24 2017;17(1):349. doi:10.1186/s12888-017-1506-9
- 43. Lowe B, Kroenke K, Herzog W, Grafe K. Measuring depression outcome with a brief self-report instrument: Sensitivity to change of the Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9). J Affect Disord. Jul 2004;81(1):61-6. doi:10.1016/S0165-0327(03)00198-8
- 44. Iliescu R, Kumaravel A, Smurawska L, Torous J, Keshavan M. Smartphone ownership and use of mental health applications by psychiatric inpatients. *Psychiatry Res.* May 2021;299:113806. doi:10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113806

- 45. Torous J, Chan SR, Yee-Marie Tan S, et al. Patient Smartphone Ownership and Interest in Mobile Apps to Monitor Symptoms of Mental Health Conditions: A Survey in Four Geographically Distinct Psychiatric Clinics. *JMIR Ment Health*. Jul-Dec 2014;1(1):e5. doi:10.2196/mental.4004
- 46. Torous J, Staples P, Shanahan M, et al. Utilizing a Personal Smartphone Custom App to Assess the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) Depressive Symptoms in Patients With Major Depressive Disorder. *JMIR Ment Health*. Jan-Mar 2015;2(1):e8. doi:10.2196/mental.3889
- 47. Huckvale K, Torous J, Larsen ME. Assessment of the Data-Sharing and Privacy Practices of Smartphone Apps for Depression and Smoking Cessation. *JAMA Netw Open*. Apr 5 2019;2(4):e192542. doi:10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2019.2542
- 48. Lagan S, Emerson MR, King D, et al. Mental Health App Evaluation: Updating the American Psychiatric Association's Framework Through a Stakeholder-Engaged Workshop. *Psychiatr Serv*. Sep 1 2021;72(9):1095-1098. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.202000663
- 49. Ng MM, Firth J, Minen M, Torous J. User Engagement in Mental Health Apps: A Review of Measurement, Reporting, and Validity. *Psychiatr Serv*. Jul 1 2019;70(7):538-544. doi:10.1176/appi.ps.201800519
- 50. Lipscomb J, Reeve BB, Clauser SB, et al. Patient-reported outcomes assessment in cancer trials: Taking stock, moving forward. *J Clin Oncol*. Nov 10 2007;25(32):5133-40. doi:10.1200/JCO.2007.12.4644
- Snyder CF, Jensen RE, Segal JB, Wu AW. Patient-reported outcomes (PROs): Putting the patient perspective in patient-centered outcomes research. *Med Care*. Aug 2013;51(8 Suppl 3):S73-9. doi:10.1097/MLR.0b013e31829b1d84
- 52. Donaldson MS. Taking PROs and patient-centered care seriously: Incremental and disruptive ideas for incorporating PROs in oncology practice. *Qual Life Res.* Dec 2008;17(10):1323-30. doi:10.1007/s11136-008-9414-6
- Jensen RE, Rothrock NE, DeWitt EM, et al. The role of technical advances in the adoption and integration of patient-reported outcomes in clinical care. *Med Care*. Feb 2015;53(2):153-9. doi:10.1097/MLR.0000000000289
- 54. Beidas RS, Stewart RE, Walsh L, et al. Free, brief, and validated: Standardized instruments for low-resource mental health settings. *Cogn Behav Pract*. Feb 1 2015;22(1):5-19. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.02.002
- Börjesson S, Boström PK. "I want to know what it is used for": Clients' perspectives on completing a routine outcome measure (ROM) while undergoing psychotherapy. *Psychotherapy Research*. 2020/04/02 2020;30(3):337-347. doi:10.1080/10503307.2019.1630780
- 56. de Beurs E, den Hollander-Gijsman ME, van Rood YR, et al. Routine outcome monitoring in the Netherlands: Practical experiences with a web-based strategy for the assessment of treatment outcome in clinical practice. *Clin Psychol Psychother*. Jan-Feb 2011;18(1):1-12. doi:10.1002/cpp.696
- 57. Edbrooke-Childs J, Wolpert M, Deighton J. Using Patient-Reported Outcome Measures to Improve Service Effectiveness (UPROMISE): Training Clinicians to Use Outcome Measures in Child Mental Health. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. May 2016;43(3):302-8. doi:10.1007/s10488-014-0600-2
- 58. Unutzer J, Chan YF, Hafer E, et al. Quality improvement with pay-for-performance incentives in integrated behavioral health care. *Am J Public Health*. Jun 2012;102(6):e41-5. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2011.300555
- 59. Hatfield DR, Ogles BM. Why some clinicians use outcome measures and others do not. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. May 2007;34(3):283-91. doi:10.1007/s10488-006-0110-y
- 60. Marty D, Rapp C, McHugo G, Whitley R. Factors influencing consumer outcome monitoring in implementation of evidence-based practices: Results from the National EBP Implementation Project. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. May 2008;35(3):204-11. doi:10.1007/s10488-007-0157-4
- 61. Jensen-Doss A, Hawley KM. Understanding clinicians' diagnostic practices: Attitudes toward the utility of diagnosis and standardized diagnostic tools. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. Nov 2011;38(6):476-85. doi:10.1007/s10488-011-0334-3
- Steinfeld B, Franklin A, Mercer B, Fraynt R, Simon G. Progress Monitoring in an Integrated Health Care System: Tracking Behavioral Health Vital Signs. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. May 2016;43(3):369-78. doi:10.1007/s10488-015-0648-7
- 63. Borntrager C, Lyon AR. Monitoring Client Progress and Feedback in School-Based Mental Health. *Cogn Behav Pract*. Feb 2015;22(1):74-86. doi:10.1016/j.cbpra.2014.03.007
- 64. Boswell JF, Kraus DR, Miller SD, Lambert MJ. Implementing routine outcome monitoring in clinical practice: Benefits, challenges, and solutions. *Psychother Res.* 2015;25(1):6-19. doi:10.1080/10503307.2013.817696

- 65. Gleacher AA, Olin SS, Nadeem E, et al. Implementing a Measurement Feedback System in Community Mental Health Clinics: A Case Study of Multilevel Barriers and Facilitators. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. May 2016;43(3):426-40. doi:10.1007/s10488-015-0642-0
- 66. Kilbourne AM, Keyser D, Pincus HA. Challenges and opportunities in measuring the quality of mental health care. *Can J Psychiatry*. Sep 2010;55(9):549-57. doi:10.1177/070674371005500903
- 67. Higgins MC, Weiner J, Young L. Implementation teams: A new lever for organizational change. *Journal of Organizational Behavior*. 2012;33(3):366-388. doi:10.1002/job.1773
- 68. Carlo AD, Barnett BS, Cella D. Computerized Adaptive Testing (CAT) and the Future of Measurement-Based Mental Health Care. *Adm Policy Ment Health*. Sep 2021;48(5):729-731. doi:10.1007/s10488-021-01123-9
- 69. Gibbons RD, Weiss DJ, Frank E, Kupfer D. Computerized Adaptive Diagnosis and Testing of Mental Health Disorders. *Annu Rev Clin Psychol*. 2016;12:83-104. doi:10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-021815-093634
- 70. Kroenke K, Stump TE, Chen CX, et al. Minimally important differences and severity thresholds are estimated for the PROMIS depression scales from three randomized clinical trials. *J Affect Disord*. Apr 1 2020;266:100-108. doi:10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.101
- 71. Measures H. Computer Adaptive Tests (CATs). 2022, 2022. <u>https://www.healthmeasures.net/index.php?option=com\_content&view=category&layout=blog&id=164&Ite</u> mid=1133
- 72. Pilkonis PA, Yu L, Dodds NE, Johnston KL, Maihoefer CC, Lawrence SM. Validation of the depression item bank from the Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS) in a three-month observational study. *J Psychiatr Res.* Sep 2014;56:112-9. doi:10.1016/j.jpsychires.2014.05.010
- 73. Gaufin M, Hess R, Hopkins ZH, Biber JE, Secrest AM. Practical screening for depression in dermatology: Using technology to improve care. *Br J Dermatol*. Mar 2020;182(3):786-787. doi:10.1111/bjd.18514
- Cella D, Yount S, Rothrock N, et al. The Patient-Reported Outcomes Measurement Information System (PROMIS): Progress of an NIH Roadmap cooperative group during its first two years. *Med Care*. May 2007;45(5 Suppl 1):S3-S11. doi:10.1097/01.mlr.0000258615.42478.55
- 75. Kraus C, Kadriu B, Lanzenberger R, Zarate CA, Jr., Kasper S. Prognosis and Improved Outcomes in Major Depression: A Review. *Focus (Am Psychiatr Publ)*. Apr 2020;18(2):220-235. doi:10.1176/appi.focus.18205
- 76. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves new nasal spray medication for treatment-resistant depression; available only at a certified doctor's office or clinic. US Food & Drug Administration. Accessed 8/12/2022, 2022. <u>https://www.fda.gov/news-events/press-announcements/fda-approves-new-nasal-spray-medication-treatment-resistant-depression-available-only-certified</u>
- 77. U.S. Food and Drug Administration. FDA approves first treatment for post-partum depression. Accessed 8/12/2022, 2022. FDA approves first treatment for post-partum depression